NO. 71500-3-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

INNERSPACE FLOOR COVERINGS, INC., a corporation,

Appellant,

vs.

JANET HILL et al,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

THE COLLINS LAW GROUP PLLC

Jami K. Elison WSBA #31007 Adam C Collins WSBA #34960 2806 NE Sunset Blvd., Suite A Renton, WA 98056

Telephone:

(425) 271-2575

Facsimile:

(425) 271-0788

Attorneys for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

Rarely does a case arise to this Court of Appeals where the legal errors in dismissing claims on summary judgment are more patently erroneous. This is such a case. While litigation at the trial level is often a scorched-earth endeavor where governing law might be lost in the system, and while admittedly this process filters out many cases before resolution on the merits, when a party appeals its legal rights to the Court of Appeals it does so with the expectation that the law still matters and will eventually be enforced by our courts. Appellant respectfully requests that this Court of Appeals adhere to the rules of law and restore Appellant's legal rights to pursue claims to trial.

After prolonged, extensive litigation, on the eve of trial the trial court below dismissed a lawsuit that the trial court had previously ruled was duly and timely commenced. The trial court reached this conclusion by relying upon foreign authorities propounding a common law from the 1800s on an issue that has been addressed through multiple generations and multiple times by the Washington legislature, all of which was ignored by the trial court. Instead, the trial court cited to foreign authorities in the 1800s in foreign jurisdictions and buttressed in more modern terms only by stating that it was following a court of appeals ruling that interpreted a separate and different statute.

Although the rights at issue here are pursued by a corporation governed by a Washington statute that enacted no limitation period on when a duly commenced action must conclude, the trial court ignored those differences and followed a court of appeals decision interpreting the different LLC statute where the legislature did in fact establish a limitation period by which time lawsuits for dissolved corporations must conclude. The trial court's errors are diametrically contrary to established Washington law for statutory construction.

Also subject to this appeal is an earlier summary judgment dismissal of portions of Appellant's civil conspiracy claim. When the trial court waded into factual matters and dismissed a portion of that civil conspiracy claim, the trial court violated plainly established Washington law. While the trial court required direct evidence as proof of a civil conspiracy, our controlling authorities leave no doubt that due to the nature of a civil conspiracy claim, circumstantial evidence is always an appropriate basis for the factual determination of whether a civil conspiracy existed. In adherence to controlling, well-established law, the trial court's disposition of this matter must be reversed. The Appellant is entitled to its day in court to prove the claims plead and pursued. A grave injustice has occurred that can only be remedied if the law is enforced and reversal ordered by this Court of Appeals.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES

- The trial court's summary judgment dismissal violated Washington law and constitutes reversible error in dismissing a duly commenced lawsuit filed by a dissolved corporation.
 - (a) The trial court erred by relying upon foreign authorities about "common law" from the 1800s despite the existence of Washington statute and caselaw.
 - (b) The trial court erred by failing to properly construe the controlling corporations statute which contains no limitation period on when a legal action must conclude, only a limitation period on when a legal action must commence.
 - (c) The trial court failed to properly conclude that common law about dissolved corporations being "dead" had been abrogated by the Washington legislature.
 - (d) The trial court erred by following a court of appeals case interpreting a separate and different LLC statute despite the undisputed fact that this matter is governed by the corporations statute.
- The trial court erred by dismissing part of a civil conspiracy claim on summary judgment.
 - (a) The trial court erred by making factual determinations and dismissing the Finishing Touch portion of Appellant's civil conspiracy claim.
 - (b) The trial court erred by requiring direct evidence for a civil conspiracy claim when Washington law clearly anticipates that circumstantial evidence is the only evidence that might be available for this factual question.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Innerspace Floor Coverings, Inc. is a dissolved Washington corporation ("Innerspace") formerly in the business of providing professional flooring services.¹ In January 2012, Appellant commenced a lawsuit against its former attorney Janet Hill, Respondent.²

The record shows prolonged litigation by Respondent,³ including two trial continuances initiated by Respondent and multiple rounds of summary judgment briefing. Among other rulings, Respondent's motion to dismiss the Complaint as not timely commenced was denied by the trial court.⁴

On the eve of trial, the trial court dismissed Appellant's claims.⁵

The trial court based this ruling on a purely legal issue—whether a dissolved corporation becomes dead under old common law rules and a lawsuit abates unless the corporation achieves reinstatement.⁶

Because this summary judgment dismissal is purely a legal issue,

Appellant presents this abbreviated statement of the case. Prior to

dismissing the entire Complaint on summary judgment, the trial court had

¹ CP 1-5

² CP 6-11

³ CP 1-933

⁴ CD 542

⁵ CP 897-899

⁶ CP 910-915

also dismissed a factual portion of Appellant's civil conspiracy claim,⁷ which claim otherwise survived Respondent's motion for summary judgment. The partial dismissal that is appealed is the dismissal that pertained to transactions identified as Finishing Touch, a competitor to Appellant called Finishing Touch Floors.

For civil conspiracy, the Complaint alleged:

- 12. Janet Hill assisted Allen Loun in obtaining a dissolution, redemption, or otherwise termination of his ownership interests in Innerspace, LLC.
- 15. Janet Hill was instrumental in obtaining the release or termination agreement for Allen Loun.
- 19. Allen Loun and Janet Hill exposed Innespace, LLC to liability for damages.
- 20. Allen Loun and Janet Hill subjected Innerspace, LLC to liability for damages.
- 22. Defendants Allen Loun and Janet Hill acted in concert and/or as co-conspirators.⁸

The *Finishing Touch* portion of the civil conspiracy claim alleges that Janet Hill and Allen Loun acted in concert to damage Innerspace. Evidence shows that Janet Hill assisted Allen Loun in collecting Innerspace financial information under pretense, which information Allen Loun utilized for the purpose of informing the competitor *Finishing Touch* about Innerspace's customer base and vulnerability to a lawsuit, which lawsuit by Finishing Touch resulted in Appellant being prohibited from continuing business.

⁷ CP 832-835

⁸ CP 2-3

A Declaration from Dave Gillette states:

- 12. ...I can see now, from what we learned in 2009 and have seen in document discovery, that Janet Hill was ignoring me and working with Allen Loun, and against me and Innerspace, from that point forward.
- 13. Allen Loun had obtained Innerspace financial records in early 2007 under the pretense of wanting to help me pay off the debts; however he actually just used that information to list the debts for discharge in bankruptcy and likely to share customer lists with Finishing Touch Floors...
- 15. As soon as Allen Loun started working at Finishing Touch Floors, Innerspace was sued by Finishing Touch Floors. At that point in time I believed Janet Hill was still counsel to Innerspace and still owed attorney-client obligations to Innerspace. I was shocked to learn later in 2009 that Janet Hill was actually cooperating with Allen Loun at Finishing Touch Floors ... 9

The trial court ruled on the character of the evidence with regard to the portion of the civil conspiracy claim that pertained to Finishing Touch and dismissed that part of the civil conspiracy claim.¹⁰

Appellant timely appealed these dismissals.¹¹

⁹ CP 180-181

¹⁰ CP 832-835

¹¹ CP 919-931

ARGUMENT & AUTHORITY

The trial court summarily dismissed a duly commenced lawsuit by fashioning from old common law notions a deadline to conclude a lawsuit, which deadline does <u>not</u> exist within the controlling statute. The trial court failed to properly apply the law, failed to acknowledge that dissolution has a special statutory meaning, and instead resurrected antiquated notions about corporate "death" from the 1800s. The trial court based its ruling on its stated premise: "Under the common law, a corporation was effectively dead at dissolution and lost the power to, among other things, affirmatively maintain actions."

Last year, this Court of Appeals rebuked that legal error.

The WBCA's legislative history reinforces the conclusion that "dissolution" has a special statutory meaning. Under the statute, "corporate dissolution" should not be equated with "corporate death." ¹³

In the same decision, this Court explained, under the new statutory regime for dissolution, "that suits by or against the [dissolved] corporation are not affected in any way [by dissolution]." The trial court's error is obvious and requires reversal and remand.

The trial court also erred by making factual questions and entering summary judgment dismissal of part of a civil conspiracy claim. The

CP 911

¹² CP 911

¹³ Donlin v. Murphy, 174 Wn. App. 288, 299, 300 P.3d 424, 429 (2013).

¹⁴ Id. (emphasis in original quotation).

standard on review for summary judgment dismissals is well established:

"A summary judgment order is reviewed by the appellate court de novo, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court." Further: "There is a strong preference for resolution of disputes on the merits."

A. The legislature did <u>not</u> limit when a lawsuit must conclude and the trial court erred by fashioning the reinstatement period into a limitation because nothing in the statute requires reinstatement. On the contrary, reinstatement is no longer necessary because dissolution is no longer equated with "death."

After previously ruling that the lawsuit was timely commenced, on the eve of trial, the trial court held:

This court will follow *Pacesetter* in applying the common law rule that a dissolved business corporation cannot affirmatively maintain an action once the reinstatement period has passed.¹⁷

Going outside the statute—relying instead on foreign jurisdiction citations of common law¹⁸ that predated the enactment of survivorship rights for dissolved corporations—the trial court erroneously declared that the reinstatement period constitutes a deadline for conclusion of a pending lawsuit that was timely commenced.¹⁹

¹⁵ Highline Sch. Dist. No. 401 v. Port of Seattle, 87 Wn.2d 6, 15, 548 P.2d 1085 (1976); Mahoney v. Shinpoch, 107 Wn.2d 679, 683, 732 P.2d 510 (1987).

¹⁶ Griffith v. City of Bellevue, 130 Wn.2d 189, 192, 922 P.2d 83 (1996).

¹⁷ CP 915.

¹⁸ See infra fn21.

¹⁹ CP 911 (Memorandum Opinion), stating: "Under the common law, a corporation was effectively dead at dissolution and lost the power to, among other things, affirmatively maintain actions....In the mid-to late 19th century, many jurisdictions began relaxing the common law rule by enacting statutes that permitted corporations to "wind up" their

The trial court's duty was to base its ruling on the statute, especially given that our legislature has given "dissolution" special statutory meaning that remedied defects in the common law.

Indeed, the great office of statutes is to remedy defects in the common law as they are developed, and to adapt it to the changes of time and circumstances.²⁰

Like other jurisdictions, Washington has enacted statutes to remedy the harsh results of the old common law on dissolved corporations.²¹ It is the

activities—including commencing and maintaining actions—during a specified period after the date of dissolution. See e.g., Dundee Mortgage & Trust Inv. Co. v. Hughes, 77 F. 855, 856 (C.C.D. Or. 1896); Franklin Bank v. Cooper, 36 Me. 179, 183 (1853).

¹⁹ Overlake Homes, Inc. v. Seattle-First Nat. Bank, 57 Wn.2d 881, 885, 360 P.2d 570 (1961), quoting Munn v. State of Illinois, 94 U.S. 113, 24 L.Ed. 77 (1876).

Overlake Homes, Inc. v. Seattle-First Nat. Bank, 57 Wn.2d 881, 885, 360 P.2d 570 (1961), quoting Munn v. State of Illinois, 94 U.S. 113, 24 L.Ed. 77 (1876).

²¹ Fletcher Cyclopedia of the Law of Corporations chronicles modern developments and through footnotes in Chapter 65, §8147 demonstrates that, under new statutes, courts across the country are consistently allowing lawsuits to continue to conclusion when timely commenced. For disputes when the same question presented here has arisen, Fletcher identifies "cases holding that pending suits may be continued to conclusion despite expiration of the survival period." The examples contained in footnote 14 thereto show:

Statute gave two years to commence suits in corporate name and as much time as was necessary to prosecute them to judgment. Franklin Bank v. Cooper, 36 Me 179.

The action if commenced within the three years can be concluded thereafter. Bewick v. Alpena Harbor Improvement Co., 39 Mich 700.

A corporation dissolved under special act providing that pending suits shall not be affected, may prosecute such a suit to judgment though more than the three-year period for which the existence of corporations dissolved under general statutes is continued for purpose of litigation has expired. New England Auto Inv. Co. v. Andrews, 47 RI 108, 130 A 863.

Even the case that cited as contrary in footnote 13 is actually consistent because it allows maintenance of a lawsuit through judgment and execution on the judgment:

[S]ince Delaware statute provides that with respect to any suit commenced against a corporation prior to the expiration of three years, the corporation shall, for purposes of such suit, be continued as a body corporate beyond the three-year period and until any judgment therein shall be fully executed. <u>Louisville Trust Co. v. Glenn, 66 F Supp 872.</u>

statute that must be followed and enforced, and not common law notions which have been dead for almost fifty years when the survivorship statutes began to be enacted in Washington.²²

RCW 23B.14.050(2)(e) provides that dissolution does <u>not</u> "[p]revent commencement of a proceeding *by or against the corporation*." (emphasis added). The Washington legislature established no deadline for the conclusion of lawsuits by dissolved corporations. This Court has already established that "that *suits by or against the* [dissolved] *corporation are not affected in any way* [by dissolution]."²³

Nothing in chapter 23B requires reinstatement as a condition of

Across the nation there is only one outlier authority, and it is Oregon:

Oregon law giving five years to prosecute or defend actions after dissolution, abates pending ones not brought to conclusion within that time. <u>Dundee</u> Mortgage & Trust Inv. Co. v. Hughes, 77 F 855.

Review of the Oregon statutes identifies grounds to distinguish the harsh Oregon outcome primarily because Washington chose to <u>not</u> establish a wind up duration. Nonetheless, even in general principle the Oregon authority is an outlier and not a split in authority. Rather, it is the exception that proves the new rule, which rule is that, when a dissolved corporation is authorized to commence proceedings, part and parcel to that right is the ability to continue the proceedings to their conclusion.

Despite erroneous dicta in Maple Court Seattle Condominium Assn v. Roosevelt, LLC, 139 Wn. App. 257, 160 P.3d 1068 (2007), there is no way to accurately suggest that "dissolved corporations are prohibited from affirmatively maintaining an action." This Court's decision in Donlin, supra, should finally put to rest such misstatements. The Maple Court assertion that "corporations are prohibited from affirmatively maintaining an action" had been false since 1965 when the Washington legislature enacted its first survival of remedy after dissolution statute in c53 §108, which was amended in 1980, 1982, 1983, and repealed effective 1989 when it was replaced by the 1989 enactment of RCW 23B.14.050 for the affirmative rights of a corporation and 1990 c178 enactment of RCW 23B.14.340 to separately define rights of those claiming against the corporation. Ever since 1965, dissolved corporations in Washington have been authorized to affirmatively maintain an action. Since 1965, they have not been accurately deemed "dead" because our legislature has expressly created a survival of rights that did not exist under the old laws.

²³ Id. (emphasis in original quotation).

maintaining a lawsuit. And nothing in chapter 23B establishes a deadline when lawsuits must conclude. Under well-established law, the trial court did <u>not</u> have authority to add those provisions to the statute: "We will not read into the statute a limitation that the legislature did not establish and does not exist." Moreover: "Courts will not read into a statute that which the legislature left out." The trial court erred by violating these principles.

B. The trial court failed to follow the fundamental rule of statutory construction by not enforcing the language of the statute itself and adopted an interpretation that renders statutory language meaningless or superfluous by eviscerating the established wind-up right to a lawsuit.

Where statutory language is plain and unambiguous, a statute's meaning must be derived from the wording of the statute itself.²⁶

There is no ambiguity in the language used the legislature. The trial court identified no ambiguity. Instead, the trial court superimposed old common law notions and added something to the statute that the legislature left out.

Leaving something out is not the same thing as an ambiguity.

While ambiguities might be interpreted, our appellate courts have prohibited the act taken by the trial court: "Courts will not read into a

State v. Jacob, 176 Wn. App. 351, 362, 308 P.3d 800 (2013), citing Seattle Ass'n of Credit Men v. Gen. Motors Acceptance Corp., 188 Wn. 635, 639, 63 P.2d 359 (1936).
 Jacob, 176 Wn. App. at 361, citing Seattle Ass'n of Credit Men, 188 Wn. at 639.

²⁶ In re Matter of Swanson, 115 Wn.2d 21, 27, 804 P.2d 1 (1990), quoting Human Rights Comm'n v. Cheney Sch. Dist. 30, 97 Wn.2d 118, 121, 641 P.2d 163 (1982).

statute that which the legislature left out."²⁷ If the legislature had wanted to require re-instatement for the continued maintenance of a lawsuit, or if the legislature wanted to establish a deadline when a lawsuit must conclude, the legislature could have done so. It did <u>not</u>.

Although Appellant's lawsuit was authorized under Washington law, the trial court rendered that a meaningless and superfluous right by denying Appellant the ability to take the lawsuit to resolution on the merits. That too violated a well-established rule of statutory construction: "[A] court may not construe a statute in a way that renders statutory language meaningless or superfluous."²⁸

1. The old common law of corporate "death" has been superseded, abrogated, or modified by the Washington legislature with this Court of Appeals clarifying that the antiquated notion of a corporation being "dead" cannot be equated with corporate dissolution in this century.

It is beyond question: "The legislature has the power to supersede, abrogate, or modify the common law." In *Donlin*, this Court of Appeals explained:

Proposed subsection 14.05(a) [now codified at RCW 23B.14.050(1)] provides that dissolution does not terminate

State v. Jacob, 176 Wn. App. 351, 361, 308 P.3d 800 (2013), citing Seattle Ass'n of Credit Men v. Gen Motors Acceptance Corp., 188 Wn. 635, 639, 63 P.2d 359 (1936).
 Ballard Square Condominium Owners Ass'n v. Dynasty Const. Co., 158 Wn.2d 603, 610, 146 P.3d 914 (2006).

²⁹ Potter v. Wash. State Patrol, 165 Wn.2d 67, 76 (2008), see also State v. Estill, 50 wn.2d 331, 334–35, 311 P.2d 667 (1957); State v. Mays, 57 Wn. 540, 542, 107 P. 363 (1910).

the corporate existence but simply requires the corporation thereafter to devote itself to winding up its affairs and liquidating its assets; after dissolution, the corporation may not carry on its business except as may be appropriate for winding-up.

The proposed Act uses the term "dissolution" in the specialized sense described above and not to describe the final step in the liquidation of the corporate business. This is made clear by Proposed subsection 14.05(b) [now codified at RCW 23B.14.050(2)], which provides that chapter 14 dissolution does not have any of the characteristics of common law dissolution, which treated corporate dissolution as analogous to the death of a natural person and abated lawsuits, vested equitable title to corporate property in the shareholders, imposed the fiduciary duty of trustees on directors who had custody of corporate assets, and revoked the authority of the registered agent. Proposed subsection 14.05(b) expressly reserves all of these common law attributes and makes clear that the rights, powers, and duties of shareholders, the directors, and the registered agent are not affected by dissolution and that suits by or against the corporation are not affected in any way. 30

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