71500-3

No. 71500-3-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

INNERSPACE FLOOR COVERINGS, INC., a Washington Corp.,

Appellant,

VS.

JANET L. HILL, an individual,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT JANET L. HILL

Susan K. McIntosh, WSBA #26138 Terrence J. Cullen, WSBA #12554 FORSBERG & UMLAUF, P.S. 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1400 Seattle, WA 98164 (206) 689-8500

ORIGINAL

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

.

One area of the act that has not been revised since 1989, and that has been the subject of several lawsuits, is the provision dealing with dissolution of a corporation, specifically, the area of creditors' rights once a corporation has been dissolved. For example, it has been argued that claims arising after dissolution of the corporation are barred from remedy.

SB 6596 Final Bill Report (2006) at 1.

"Survival provisions are clarified to make clear that claims arising after filing for dissolution can be asserted against the corporation, and the survival period is extended to three rather than two years." *Id.* at 2.

If suits by dissolved corporations are allowed, the limitations period in the survival statute should apply equally to lawsuits commenced by a dissolved corporation and to lawsuits against them. Any suit not commenced within three years of the date of dissolution should be barred.

If the survival statute does not bar these claims completely by not providing for survival of proceedings by a dissolved corporation, application of the three-year limitations period should operate to bar any lawsuit by the dissolved corporation not commenced within three years of administrative dissolution. Innerspace did not file this lawsuit within three years of dissolution. The corporation was administratively dissolved on August 1, 2008. The bar date would be August 1, 2011. The lawsuit was commenced by filing on January 12, 2012, more than three years later than dissolution. As a policy matter and under this counterfactual analysis, the three-year statute of limitations contained in the survival statute should apply to this action and should bar the suit.

Even if the court does not read the dissolution statute as barring Innerspace from commencing this lawsuit after dissolution, nothing in the dissolution statute permits the lawsuit to continue after Innerspace ceases to exist at the end of the reinstatement period.

2. No Statute Allows Innerspace to Maintain a Lawsuit After the Reinstatement Period Expires Without Reinstating the Corporation.

No provision of the dissolution statute addresses survival of a lawsuit brought by a dissolved corporation on expiration of the period in which it is allowed to reinstate as an active corporation. Where the statute is silent, the common law applies. RCW 4.04.010; *Potter v. Washington State Patrol*, 165 Wn.2d 67, ¶ 11, 196 P.3d 691 (2008) ("our state is governed by the common law to the extent the common law is not inconsistent with constitutional, federal, or state law."). The Supreme Court in *Ballard Square* noted that enactment of RCW 23B.14.050(2) "showed the legislature's intent to cut any remaining ties to the common law rule that all claims against a corporation died upon dissolution of the corporation." 158 Wn.2d at ¶ 13. The dissolution statute abrogates much of the common law for the five-year period from dissolution to the end of the reinstatement period, but not thereafter. A statute abrogates the

1173375 / 699.0154

common law only when the statutory provisions "are so inconsistent and repugnant to the common law that both cannot simultaneously be in force." 165 Wn.2d at ¶ 11, quoting *State ex rel. Madden v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1*, 83 Wn.2d 219, 222, 517 P.2d 585 (1973). Nothing in Washington's business corporation dissolution statute is inconsistent with prior common law that, absent reinstatement, a corporation is dead and cannot maintain a lawsuit when the statutory reinstatement period ends.

Where a corporation reinstates, it regains its corporate powers and may commence and maintain lawsuits. *Equipto Division Aurora Equipment Co. v. Yarmouth*, 134 Wn.2d 356, 365, 95 P.2d 451 (1998) ("The dissolution is conditional because the corporation can be reinstated within five years (formerly two years) of dissolution and reinstatement dates back to the date of dissolution as if the administrative dissolution had never occurred."). Where a corporate power. It is dead. *State v. Evans*, 177 Wn.2d 186, 298 P.3d 724 (2013) (discussing corporate existence in context of identity theft statute and concluding a corporation can be considered "living or dead" depending on whether it remains in operation or instead has been dissolved).

Thus, even if the statute of limitations in the survival statute as applied to RCW 23B.14.050(2)(e) did not bar this lawsuit, nothing in the

dissolution statute allows a suit by a dissolved corporation to survive beyond the end of the reinstatement period. The survival statute limits suits to those filed against the dissolved corporation within three years from the date of dissolution. RCW 23B.14.340. Even if filed on the last day possible, two years would remain to conclude the lawsuit before the reinstatement period ended. Presumably, if timely filed, the current survival statute would not prevent lawsuits against the dissolved corporation from being maintained to conclusion. *See, e.g., Ballard Square,* 158 Wn.2d at ¶¶ 27-31 (holding the right to sue a dissolved corporation did not exist at common law and now exists by statute, "as a matter of legislative grace"; therefore, it is not a vested right and it may be abolished during pendency of a lawsuit at any time before final judgment).

a. Lawsuits Abate Without Corporate Reinstatement under the Common Law.

Washington common law is unequivocal regarding abatement of lawsuits by expired corporations. Any lawsuit brought by a dissolved corporation abates upon the expiration of the reinstatement period where the corporation does not reinstate its corporate existence. *Equipto*, 134 Wn.2d 356, 95 P.2d 451 (1998) (corporation not allowed to reinstate when application made after reinstatement period); *Follett v. Clark*, 19 Wn.2d 518, 43 P.2d 536 (1943) (administratively dissolved corporation may not

bring or maintain lawsuit); Gamble v. Alder Group Mining & Smelting Co., 5 Wn.2d 578, 105 P.2d 811 (1940) ("The corporation, even though not dissolved, could not be reinstated under the provisions of [the corporations statute], and it had, in effect, become dead," precluding it from maintaining an action); National Grocery Co. v. Kotzebue Fur & Trading Co., 3 Wn.2d 288, 296-97, 100 P.2d 408 (1940) ("So long as a corporation may reinstate itself it is not dead, and is, therefore, subject to process and suit."); Hawley v. Bonanza Queen Mining Co., 61 Wash. 90, 111 P. 1073 (1910) ("A corporation is a mere creature of the law, and the privilege as a corporation is contingent upon a compliance with the law."); Maple Court Seattle Condo. Ass'n v. Roosevelt, LLC, 139 Wn. App. 257, 160 P.3d 1068 (2007) (dissolved corporations that fail to reinstate within the permitted time frame lack standing to pursue lawsuits; holding the same rule applies to LLCs); Roger Lee Construction Co., Inc. v. Toikka, 62 Wn. App. 87, 813 P.2d 61 (1991) (holding payment of delinquent fees after motion to dismiss during trial allowed corporation to maintain its lawsuit because the payment occurred during the reinstatement period); Inducon Corp. v. Crowley Maritime Corp., 53 Wn. App. 872, 771 P.2d 356 (1989) (dismissing lawsuit by dissolved corporation that failed to pay delinquent fees it "could and should have paid")⁷; Pacesetter Real Estate,

⁷ Prior to the 1989 amendments to the Business Corporation Act, a corporation was

Inc. v. Fasules, 53 Wn. App. 463, 468, 767 P.2d 961 (1989) (suit by dissolved corporation commenced after reinstatement period dismissed: "Since Pacesetter failed to comply with the 2-year reinstatement period, it lacks standing to bring this action."); *United States for Use of Acme Granite & Tile Company v. F.D. Rich Company*, 417 F.2d 549 (9th Cir. 1970) (under Washington law, lawsuit by corporation abated when corporation dissolved during suit).

To maintain this lawsuit, Washington law required Innerspace to reinstate as an active corporation within the reinstatement period, even if its only activity as a corporation was to prosecute its lawsuit.

b. As With Corporations, Lawsuits Abate Without LLC Reinstatement.

The rule is the same for LLCs. *Chadwick Farms Owners Ass'n v. FHC LLC*, 166 Wn.2d 178, 207 P.3d 1251 (2009). In that case, the Court explained that the LLC amendments "journeyed through the legislative process hand in hand with the amendment to the survival statute pertaining to corporations that was addressed by this court in [*Ballard Square*]. Both statutory provisions were in response to the Court of Appeals' decision in *Ballard Square*, where that court determined that, absent a survival statute, claims against a corporation arising after dissolution of the corporation

.

required to pay all fees due the State before commencing suit. Former RCW 23A.44.120.

abated." 166 Wn.2d at ¶ 34. Applying the rule to the LLC, the Chadwick

court concluded:

•

Under the statutory scheme applying to limited liability companies that are administratively dissolved, if the company does not seek reinstatement it must wind up the company's affairs within that two year period, because once the two years pass, the company no longer exists and has no power to act. While the company still exists, and during the time it is winding up (the time following dissolution and before cancellation of the certificate of formation), it has the power to prosecute and defend suits. But once the company is canceled, it can no longer prosecute or defend suits; it no longer exists as a legal entity....

Here, FHC, as an administratively dissolved limited liability company, had two years in which to wind up, including prosecuting and defending suits, or else it had to seek reinstatement to obtain additional time in which to complete the winding up process. Because FHC did not seek reinstatement, then any suits it brought or any suits against it were limited to the two year period available for winding up the affairs of the company before it was canceled as a matter of law. Once the two-year reinstatement/winding up period passed and the company's certificate of formation was canceled, it could no longer sue or be sued because it ceased to exist.

166 Wn.2d at ¶¶ 21-22 (citations omitted).

c. Reinstatement Period Defines End of Corporate Existence.

While the Business Corporation Act does not explicitly place a time limit on the dissolved corporation within which it must conclude the winding up process, it does place an end to the corporation's postdissolution existence. That limit is five years, absent application for reinstatement. RCW 23B.14.220. If a dissolved corporation has unfinished winding up activities, such as a properly commenced lawsuit against others, it is incumbent on the corporation to reinstate as an active corporation to avoid having the lawsuit abate by operation of law. *See Maple Court Seattle Condominium Ass'n v. Roosevelt, LLC*, 139 Wn.2d 257, 160 P.3d 1068 (2007) (holding a dissolved LLC could not maintain an action against others after the statutory winding up period expired and noting that actions by dissolved corporations do not survive without reinstatement). At the end of the reinstatement period, the corporation ceases to exist.

d. Innerspace's Argument Fails to Address the Issue on Appeal.

Innerspace argues that the court erred by equating corporate dissolution with corporate death. *Appellant's Brief*, pp. 15-17. But Innerspace misreads the trial court's Memorandum Opinion. The trial court ruled that in Washington, "common law rules apply to dissolved corporations once the statutory reinstatement period has ended." CP 915. It is only then, and not during the five-year period between dissolution and the end of the reinstatement period, that a corporation ceases to exist.

The trial court was correct in relying on *Pacesetter* and the cases cited therein in applying Washington's common law holding that a

corporation's failure to apply for reinstatement within the time permitted results in irrevocable dissolution and thereafter any pending lawsuit may not be maintained. The *Pacesetter* court noted that "[t]his view is consistent with case law across the country," citing to 16A *Fletcher Cyclopedia of the Law of Corporations*, § 8113, p. 358 (1988). 53 Wn. App. at 468. Innerspace cites to no Washington authority to the contrary. Where a party cites no authority to support its argument, the court presumes it has found none. *State v. Young*, 89 Wn.2d 613, 625, 574 P.2d 1171 (1978).

Innerspace cites to foreign authority for the proposition that the trend across the country is to allow suits to continue to conclusion despite expiration of the reinstatement period. *Appellant's Brief* at 11-12 & n.21. The cases cited and the section of *Fletcher* that Innerspace relies on fail to prove its point. Section 8113 notes that all states provide for survival of remedies for a limited period of time after dissolution and courts have held both that pending suits abate on expiration of the survival period and that they do not abate. 16A *Fletcher Cyclopedia of the Law of Corporations*, § 8113 (2013). One must look to the law of the state of incorporation to determine whether the common law regarding abatement has been abrogated by statute. In Washington, it has not; the common law applies.

Here, the trial court correctly dismissed Innerspace's lawsuit against Janet Hill under Washington's common law when Innerspace failed to reinstate before the end of the reinstatement period.

C. <u>Innerspace's Argument That the Trial Court</u> <u>Improperly Dismissed Its Civil Conspiracy Claim</u> Related to the Finishing Touch Lawsuit Lacks Merit.

1. Innerspace Improperly Asserts That the Trial Court Dismissed the Finishing Touch Conspiracy Claim on Janet Hill's Second Motion for Summary Judgment.

Innerspace appeals from the trial court's order dated October 27, 2013, ruling on Janet Hill's second motion for summary judgment. In its opening brief to this Court, Innerspace argues the October 27 order dismissed its civil conspiracy claim related to the Finishing Touch lawsuit. But the trial court did not rule on the civil conspiracy claim related to the Finishing Touch lawsuit in the October 27, 2013 order, notwithstanding Innerspace's motion to clarify, arguing that the Finishing Touch civil conspiracy cause of action was not before the court on Janet Hill's second motion for summary judgment and asking the trial court to rule that any civil conspiracy claim relating to the Finishing Touch lawsuit may proceed to trial. CP 687-699. The October 27 order dismissed a number of Innerspace's claims and allowed others to go to trial.⁸ The Finishing

⁸ In its Notice of Appeal of the October 27, 2013 order, Innerspace appeals the order "in whole or in part." CP 919. It does not limit its appeal to only one aspect of the

Touch claim was not among them, for good reason. CP 834-35. When Janet Hill filed her second motion for summary judgment on July 5, 2013, Innerspace had not yet identified any claim for civil conspiracy relating to Finishing Touch or the lawsuit it filed against David Gillette, Innerspace, and others. The trial court refrained from ruling on any civil conspiracy claim related to Finishing Touch in its October 27, 2013 order, even after Innerspace asked the court to clarify the court's August 15, 2013 letter ruling in which the court said, "[a]ny claims related to the 'Finishing Touch' litigation have not been presented to this court, other than Plaintiff's references at oral argument and brief references in Plaintiff's filings and exhibits." CP 700.

In a conference call with counsel on September 3 or 4, 2013, the trial court asked that Janet Hill bring a motion before trial to resolve the question whether Innerspace's claim for civil conspiracy would go to the trier of fact. The trial court agreed to hear the motion on November 22, 2013. CP 1435. Thus, the trial court anticipated hearing a separate

....

10

order, *i.e.*, civil conspiracy regarding the Finishing Touch lawsuit. To the extent Innerspace intended to appeal any other portion of the order, Innerspace waived its appeal by not assigning error to any other portion of the order and by not submitting argument in its opening brief on any other claim or cause of action dismissed therein. RAP 10.3(a)(5); *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) ("Points not argued and discussed in the opening brief are deemed abandoned and are not open to consideration on their merits."). That Innerspace intended to appeal only the civil conspiracy claim related to the Finishing Touch lawsuit is evident from Appellant's Brief: "The partial dismissal that is appealed is the dismissal that pertained to transactions identified as Finishing Touch, a competitor to Appellant called Finishing Touch Floors." *Appellant's Brief* at 8.

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